# Contents

Foreword by Mark Payne	X
Imitator's Note	xxi
1	
So reactionaries and radicals complain (Aetia, book 1,	
frag. 1: proem)	3
This is a story with a happy ending ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 67–75)	4
That island feast (Galatea, frag. 378)	7
Apollo has come to our house party, and Aphrodite (Lyric, frag. 227)	8
Caro, you didn't seem to experience more (Epigram 62)	9
Sleep, Conopion, sleep (Epigram 64)	10
Zeus (I read here) once made love for three hundred years ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 2, frag. 48)	11
It's easier to explain if we use Mr. Spock (Epigram 43)	12
The lord of the gods gets crushes on people too (Epigram 53)	13
Honestly I don't know (Hecale, frag. 274)	14
I hate to say it, Lee, but you look awful (Epigram 32)	15
You were already in pain (Epigram 44)	16
Warm ashes may flare up when stirred (Epigram 45)	17
Don't worry, you (Hecale, frag. 256)	18
There are so many versions of Aphrodite (Iamb 10,	
frag. 200a)	19
Once they decided to make a home together (Epigram 27)	20
The shepherds I know tell stories for one another (Epigram 24)	21
When you can't be with somebody you want to be with— (Epigram 33)	2.2

© Copyright, Princeton University Press. No part of this book may be distributed, posted, or reproduced in any form by digital or mechanical means without prior written permission of the publisher.	
It's hard work making people fall in love (Epigram 39)	23
Snakes stand for danger, but also for things intertwining ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 101a)	24
Snakes stand for danger, but also for things intertwining ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 101b)	25
Fun fact: long ago, in the age of myth (Epigram 47)	26
2	
The fuckers renamed an airport for a tyrant (Epigram 8)	29
It hurts to be poor. It hurts more (Hecale, frag. 275)	30
Choose me, Athena, defender (frag. 556, 638, 644)	31
Berenice, rightful governor (frag. 388)	32
All the Greek cities have seen their refugees ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 2, frag. 44–51)	33
The way a word like sanction, or inflammable ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 90)	34
Dear Thracians—no, dear citizens (Aetia, book 4, frag. 104)	35
You're the kind of rich dude who drains wetlands ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 64)	36
People are going to hate you once you've won ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 84–85)	37
Now we pour out wine (Hymn 1: To Zeus)	38
3	
What the— (Aetia, book 1, frag. 31g, and frag. 620 and 731)	45
There are so many—too many (Aetia, book 3, frag. 79)	46
Nobody wants to talk about lochia. Or about menstruation ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 65)	47
· ·	48
Remember when we didn't get along? (Aetia, book 3,	49
	51
Artemis! Phileratis has placed (Epigram 35)	53
book 4, frag. 90)  Dear Thracians—no, dear citizens ( <i>Aetia</i> , <i>b</i> ook 4, frag. 104)  You're the kind of rich dude who drains wetlands ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 64)  People are going to hate you once you've won ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 84–85)  Now we pour out wine (Hymn 1: To Zeus)   What the— ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 1, frag. 31g, and frag. 620 and 731)  There are so many—too many ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 79)  Nobody wants to talk about lochia. Or about menstruation ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 65)  Pour one out for women who date men (Lyric, frag. 226)  Remember when we didn't get along? ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 3, frag. 80–82)  Goddess of parturition, listen when Cleo (Epigram 54)  Asclepius, god of medicine, we've paid (Epigram 55)	35 36 37 38 45 46 47 48 49 57 57

© Copyright, Princeton University Press. No part of this book may be distributed, posted, or reproduced in any form by digital or mechanica means without prior written permission of the publisher.	d
Horses don't get periods. They used to (Iambs, frag. 223)	54
Child-care workers deserve to retire with pensions	
(Epigram 51)	55
As in <i>Hamlet</i> , but harmless (Iambs, frag. 223)	56
You were always a lamb (Aetia, book 1, frag. 27)	57
Why is the stork called an avenger? (Hecale, frag. 271)	58
In my poems about the origins of things (Iambs, frag. 221)	59
This morning Patricia drew her own picture (Epigram 35)	60
"My daughter won't leave her room, even though" (Epigram 41)	61
I wish you wouldn't yell at me for trying ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 248)	62
Sometimes you just hit a wall ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 97)	63
What does Artemis want with attention? Of all the gods	
(Hymn 3: To Artemis)	64
4	
Half of me—an intangible half—is alive (Epigram 42)	73
The poets who win a contest (Epigram 10)	74
One of the Muses took this singer (frag. 471)	75
Sometimes you don't want it (Aetia, book 1, frag. 2)	76
You shouldn't make children work all the time (Iambs, frag. 222)	77
Apollo, lord of my only art, mouse god (Iamb 3, frag. 193)	78
Everything I set down has a source (frag. 612)	79
Henry's new poems sound a lot like Hesiod's (Epigram 29)	80
Attribution is weird, and scholars get it wrong (Epigram 7)	81
Lucky Orestes (Epigram 60)	82
The bitter god called Envy tried to get under (from Hymn 2:	~ <b>_</b>
To Apollo)	83
He was in one of those bands that use so much reverb (Iambs, frag. 215)	84
When I began writing, I felt like a constellation	
(Epigram 56)	85
Cover me quietly, stone (Epigram 28)	86

© Copyright, Princeton University Press. No part of this book may be distributed, posted, or reproduced in any form by digital or mechanical means without prior written permission of the publisher.	
Bunting I like, but not Olson, or Bernstein, or Pound	
(Epigram 30)	87
Once on the hill of Tmolus (Iamb 4, frag. 194)	88
5	
My Muses, my Graces, I'm tired ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 112: epilogue)	93
Cheer up, goats! (Epigram 63a)	94
Cheer up, malefactors! (Epigram 63b)	95
I already know how your friends with the school-spirit hoodies (Epigram 4)	96
Everybody wants to be the talent ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 100)	97
This bow (Epigram 38)	98
What or who are you, whose nameplate reads Opportunity? (Epigram 59)	99
Those who have known a god must know (frag. 557, 586)	100
I'm an old nautilus egg case. I make a good toy (Epigram 6)	101
Timon, you were part of an institution (Epigram 5)	102
My first teacher prayed (Epigram 49)	103
You've been my friend for a while. You know you can trust me (Iamb 5, frag. 195)	104
For the sake of Laura Jane Grace and all the graces (Epigram 34)	105
We all made fun of Celia when we learned that her name meant "hair" ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 288 and 304)	106
Eyes take what's seen and rarely ask for more ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 282)	107
Gentle wind from the south that meant we were coming home (Iamb 8, frag. 198)	108
Our people have our own holidays (Aetia, frag. 178)	109
6	
I lost my friend's laptop. I thought about skipping town (Epigram 46)	113

viii

© Copyright, Princeton University Press. No part of this book may be distributed, posted, or reproduced in any form by digital or mechani means without prior written permission of the publisher.	
Hermes, you've definitely been around for a while (Iamb 9, frag. 199)	114
I am a superhero with mask, gloves, and boots on (Epigram 26)	115
I'm an enamel pin with a black-and-yellow (Epigram 57)	116
By using no spice but salt (Epigram 48)	117
I am the deity of the periphery (Iamb 7, frag. 197)	118
There are more than two, and they work in secret ( <i>Aetia</i> , frag. 115)	119
There were four Graces. There are not (Epigram 52)	120
Of course Athena does not date men ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 261)	121
The goddess we call our foe ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 299, 301)	122
The soft hats I brought back from my travels ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 2, frag. 43)	123
Some inventions are simple ( <i>Aetia</i> , frag. 177)	126
Lift up the basket for the harvest festival (Hymn 6: To Demeter)	128
7	
The pillar at the dock must sing his song ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 103)	137
Why do I write? Experience (frag. 714)	138
Don't let yourself or your friends or your children leave (Hecale, frag. 278)	139
I'm not exactly from poverty, or from obscurity (Iamb 13, frag. 203)	140
From welcoming the stranger ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 231)	142
Don't hold yourself superior to others (Epigram 4)	143
The gods (to put it calmly) aren't big fans ( <i>Aetia</i> , book 4, frag. 96)	144
Justice will give you your due ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 358)	145
We build cities and towns, we mortals. The deathless gods (frag. 467, 480, 491)	146
"Goodbye to the sunlit world," said Klia, who took (Epigram 25)	147

© Copyright, Princeton University Press. No part of this book may be distributed, posted, or reproduced in any form by digital or mechanical means without prior written permission of the publisher.	
The singer who wrote the songs for the band Game Theory	
(Epigram 9)	148
Whatever happens happens for all time (Epigram 11)	149
Nothing new will vex you or make you heartsick ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 263)	150
Visual depictions of suicide kill (Epigram 22)	151
Nobody knows what the gods will bring tomorrow	
(Epigram 16)	152
When I am in cemeteries I consider (Epigram17)	153
Cress was the best kind of chatterbox. Her classmates	
(Epigram 18)	154
Here lies Nicholas, the son (Epigram 21)	155
I named my son after his grandfather (Epigram 23)	156
The god who made us made us such (Hecale, frag. 298)	157
The same, single, visible, daily phenomenon ( <i>Hecale</i> , frag. 291)	158
Sometimes people won't listen. Sometimes they can't (Aetia,	
book 1, frag. 23)	159
At one time all the animals— (Iamb 2, frag. 192)	160
It is not for me—gods forbid it—to watch (Hymn 5:	
To Athena)	161
Acknowledgments	165
Epilogue to Callimachus	167
<i>Index of Greek first lines</i>	169

#### (*Aetia*, book 1, frag. 1: proem)

Οἶδ' ὅτ]ι μοι Τελχῖνες ἐπιτρύζουσιν ἀοιδῆ

So reactionaries and radicals complain that I have no proprietary mission,

no project that's all mine;

instead, I am like a child flipping Pogs

or building in Minecraft, although I'm past forty.

To them I say: keep rolling logs

for one another, but don't waste my time

on your ambition:

marathon runners and shock jocks gain

by going as far as they can, but the sublime,

the useful, and the beautiful in poetry

are all inversely correlated

with size. Shorter means sweeter. I'll be fine.

When first I rated

myself as a writer of some sort,

wolf-killing, light-bearing Apollo came to me

as a ferret. Stay off crowded trains, he said; never resort

to volume where contrast will do. Imitate

Satie, or Young Marble Giants. The remedy for anomie lies in between the wing slips of the cicada.

If I can't be weightless, or glide among twigs, or sate

myself on dew, then let

my verses live that way,

since I feel mired in age, and worse for wear.

It might even be that when the Muses visit

a girl, or a schoolboy, they intend to stay,

or else to come back, even after the poet goes gray.

(*Aetia*, book 3, frag. 67–75)

Αὐτὸς Ἔρως ἐδίδαξεν Ἀκόντιον, ὁππότε καλῆ

This is a story with a happy ending.

If you met Aaron early enough in his life you might have wondered who taught him the arts

of conversation, he who could put anyone,

adult or child or

in between, at ease,

yet got tongue-tied when he brought up Cydippe,

he who wanted nothing more than to see her,

in fact, to spend the rest of his life beside her,

so that the world would see him as her husband.

They had a lot in common. The two of them met at Delos, at the big sacrifice; he came

all the way from Iulis. They would talk

about how both of their mothers were engineers,

how both had family in the islands,

about the races outdoors, about where to stand

to avoid the crowds at the temple.

But already other sons' mothers regarded her

as the prize, bringing bride-gifts, bringing whole oxen, although, in her own eyes, she was far too young.

Nobody else stood out in the morning dances;

nobody else reminded

so many observers of the rose-gold dawn.

He stood out too, but frankly

it made him uncomfortable.

More than uncomfortable. You might have heard

he spelled his name differently then. People singled him out in school, and at parties, back home. He liked the attention,

but only at first. He got really into archery,

and all of us thought he just liked spending time in the sun.

In fact he was praying

to Artemis, to the thin moon

he observed after dawn, and right before sundown:

praying she might see him,

that Cydippe might see him, the way

he so badly wanted to be seen.

That the proverbial archer might strike her too—not Artemis nor Apollo: the other one. That it might hurt just a little. That they could talk about his prayers.

And that's just what happened. "I think you're brave," she said. "I don't think you deserve to be afraid."

Bad news: by then her mother had arranged, of course,

for Cydippe to marry someone else.

Good news: our heroes got to spend the night together first, because the cult of Hera insists—

I'm going to get in trouble, serious trouble, if I go into detail here. Just know that families in Hera's cult insist on this kind of bridal evening. For the education

of daughters, who will then make better wives.

Next morning the families led two oxen to the pool where they would see the point of the blade that would tear their hearts out that night. That's part of the Hera cult too. But that afternoon Cydippe had a fit. A literal fit,

the kind that makes people behave like wild goats, flailing and barking. They thought she was going to die, and canceled the ritual. And then she got better.

And then the ceremony was back on, at which point she came down with a boiling fever, which lasted seven months. As if she had worked for it. And then she could breathe again, so they set the wedding for a third date, and then she came down with a chill, more than a chill: a frost fever, so her very lips and eyes seemed to congeal, as if she could not remain for long in this cold world . . .

At this point Cydippe's father knew enough to pray to Apollo, who came to him that night.

"My sister will not permit this marriage," said the god.

"She was right there in her shrine, though you did not see, at the festival in Delos,
when your child swore that Aaron, and nobody else, would be her husband. Yes, her husband.

And now, if you care for your daughter, you'll listen to me.

For one thing, she swore an oath, and she's bound to keep it, and my sister agrees." The god

reached over his shoulder, grasping
one of his sun-bright arrows. Artemis, too,
can shoot such radiant arrows with perfect aim, though hers look more like moonlight. "For another,"
the sun god went on, "if you let her marry Aaron, you will not blend lead with silver,
but rather mix your silver with his gold.

You know your own stock. He comes from mountain climbers, and from wind tamers; his family taught

their island to catch quail in wind-borne nets."

So Aaron came back to Naxos, and the girls whom Artemis befriended said their hymns, including the marriage hymn, over both of them, and Aaron, for all you love to hunt and sprint and shoot, I know you would not have traded that night for anything: neither the sandals of Aphra, so fast she covered a whole field of wheat by running across the crests of the wheat-ears, nor everything Midas owned. For people are not possessions. Lovers are not possessions, neither each other's, nor their families'. If you have known love you should know that, especially if you serve Artemis, whose brother told the truth. Cydippe's family still lives, with many children, up at Iulis; their story came down to us in Zeno's collection, the one with the islands' tales.

#### (Galatea, frag. 378)

ἢ μᾶλλον χρύσειον ἐν ὀφρύσιν ἱερὸν ἰχθύν

That island feast

was more than a feast; there Kyra and Kassandra met us, and there was golden-broiled giant bream with coriander, pounded with a mallet until tender,

green olives and capers and garlic and tiny lemons, and while I felt like a sleek finch on a sleek perch

while taking part in that repast,

afterwards I just wanted to take a nap;

so we did, together,

and when we woke it was dark, the moon scattered her glitter all over the brine, and we were already

entangled in each other, or rather in one another.

and so we decided to stay that way (letting Kassandra take down her soft and complicated hair,

and letting comfort alter

our positions as we chose, neither seeking nor finding much sleep),

and we stayed that way till the sun came up in the East.

# (Lyric, frag. 227)

"Ενεστ' Απόλλων τῷ χορῷ· τῆς λύρης ἀκούω·

Apollo has come to our house party, and Aphrodite, and also karaoke.

Whoever stays up till dawn goes home with the panettone,

or anything else left over, or anyone,

provided he or she or they want to go home. Castor and Pollux, send us company.

None of our friends deserves to sleep alone.

#### (Epigram 62)

Αἴνιε καὶ σὺ γὰρ ὧδε Μενέκρατες οὐκ ἐπὶ πουλὺ

Caro, you didn't seem to experience more than a little of our blowout last night.

What happened? Are you OK? You know I'm a friend you can trust.

Honestly you look like someone decided to joust

against a centaur, or a champion equestrian,

with your head as the grand prize.

Whom should I sue for excessive use of force?

"Calli, please

let me go back to sleep upstairs if I can.

I don't know if it was the wine,

or when I told Niko about my crush, thanks to that wine,

but I feel like I've been kicked in the nose by a horse."

# (Epigram 64)

Οὕτως ὑπνώσαις, Κωνώπιον, ὡς ἐμὲ ποιεῖς

Sleep, Conopion, sleep
as you make your admirer sleep
on the colder stones beside your bolted door;
sleep, Conopion, sleep
without regrets, without a second thought
of the hardened and shivering man you don't want anymore.
If you wake, and stand, and see
your lover prone under your window, and without
much hope of you to keep the chill away,
you'll surely go back to sleep
and leave your neighbors to ask
what pitilessness could leave him there till day.

#### (Aetia, book 2, frag. 48)

ὥς τε Ζεὺς ἐράτιζε τριηκοσίους ἐνιαυτούς

Zeus (I read here) once made love for three hundred years. It doesn't say how, or with whom.

Nor do we hear

whether his partner, or partners, were into it

that much, or one three-hundredth that much.

As for me, I'm just starved for touch,

or else exhausted from yearning every minute.

Unsatisfied love is a tomb.

#### (Epigram 43)

Εἰ μὲν ἑκών, Ἀρχῖν', ἐπεκώμασα, μυρία μέμφου,

It's easier to explain if we use Mr. Spock.

Had it been my decision
to develop a crush on you, you may
indeed have objected: it is most illogical.

It might, indeed, offend.

And yet, if neurobiology will require
me to experience this emotion
and, moreover, to communicate it, well . . .

It's not like we can turn back the relevant clock; it's not like I stood in your right-of-way at midnight and threw pebbles at your window. All I did was leave a note on your door.

I have been, and always shall be, your friend.

#### (Epigram 53)

Τὸν τὸ καλὸν μελανεῦντα Θεόκριτον, εἰ μὲν ἔμ' ἔχθει

The lord of the gods gets crushes on people too. Theo has started to grow a lovely beard.

If he's into me, may holy Zeus show him favor in equal measure, as much as I love him—no, may Zeus favor him more, by a factor of four.

But if Theo won't text me back (so many guys make you wait, or ghost you), may Zeus despise that beautiful man and everything he owns.

May he be hated from now on. May he be feared.

May his heart weigh four times what it weighed before, so that he, too, feels this awkward, and has to stay home.

(Hecale, frag. 274)

άρμοῖ που κἀκείνῳ ἐπέτρεχε λεπτὸς ἴουλος

Honestly I don't know
if he'd want me to say so,
but I love how he has just
now started to grow a beard—

I could tell from the delicate hair—no, the down on his cheek. I thought of the tips of the petals of the Italian immortelle which are, also, gold.

I could see, when he blushed, his pride, his satisfaction (he had been waiting so long for it): he had just shaved.

#### (Epigram 32)

Θεσσαλικὲ Κλεόνικε, τάλαν, τάλαν, οὐ μὰ τὸν ὀξὺν

I hate to say it, Lee, but you look awful.

I barely recognized you. Where have you been?

And you look so thin,

part sunburned, part pale as a bone.

Now I get it. You've been hanging out with Taylor, who has that effect on everyone.

You look in their eyes and forget to eat,

and then, after they forget about you, nothing and no one else seems worthwhile, all other wishes canceled, all pleasure unlawful.

# (Epigram 44)

Έλκος ἔχων ὁ ξεῖνος ἐλάνθανεν· ὡς ἀνιηρὸν

You were already in pain when you came over for dinner, but the extent of your internal injury didn't show till that third glass of wine.

Then your face fell. It was like watching all the petals drop from a rose at once—like time-lapse photography. I couldn't not see it. I couldn't not see what it meant. Someone broke into your heart and stole all the valuables. I've been that kind of thief. But I didn't say so. Instead I just said, "I've been there. I know."

# (Epigram 45)

Έστι τι ναὶ τὸν Πᾶνα κεκρυμμένον, ἔστι τι ταύτῃ

Warm ashes may flare up when stirred, no matter how gently. Hermes, Dionysus, and Pan—god of ferment, god of wild woods, god of pretenders—created me that way; maybe I ought to feel shame, and yet, to tell the truth, I'd rather not skip it.

That said, I hope he won't rush me.

You might have heard.

That quiet one who tilts his head like a whippet has only to touch me,

and I fall apart like a heap of cinders.

An underground stream can topple a granite home.

(Hecale, frag. 256)

λέξομαι ἐν μυχάτῳ· κλισίη δέ μοί ἐστιν ἑτοίμη

Don't worry, you can have the bed; I'll take the couch by the door, in the living room, as usual.

#### (Iamb 10, frag. 200a)

Τὰς Ἀφροδίτας—ἡ θεὸς γὰρ οὐ μία—

There are so many versions of Aphrodite, so many incarnations.

The one I first met in the Castro beats all the rest, for wisdom, I mean. For wisdom.

She, and she only, accepts sacrifices of pork.

She is the goddess of no particular nation, no singular standard of beauty, no rules at the door. No one form of love is best.

Michel did a lot to support her: I thank him for that, though otherwise he was a jerk.

# (Epigram 27)

"Ωμοσε Καλλίγνωτος Ίωνίδι μήποτ' ἐκείνης

Once they decided to make a home together
Cal told Ione that he would never consider
anybody else as his regular lover;
all of us knew he was bi, but he said he would never
place any guy, or any woman, above her.
Now it's as if he were poisoned, or else on fire,
throwing off sparks left and right, for a brand-new crush,
who happens to be nonbinary. As for
Ione, all his friends now have to push
ourselves to see, or even to think about her,
poor girl, who last week thought she was his primary.

#### (Epigram 24)

Άστακίδην τὸν Κρῆτα τὸν αἰπόλον ἥρπασε Νύμφη

The shepherds I know tell stories for one another, and mostly they're not about Daphne escaping Apollo, dramatic natural disasters, or even the broad sails of the bravest Argives.

We prefer Scott and Emma, or Gray and Tess, who crossed a continent to be together, having realized that each would follow the other anywhere, that they would rather rip up their lives than stay apart, that their loves were real and true and strong, no less so for how long they themselves believed they were more like sisters, or brothers.

#### (Epigram 33)

Ώγρευτής, Ἐπίκυδες, ἐν οὔρεσι πάντα λαγωὸν

When you can't be with somebody you want to be with—you're too far away, or it's not allowed—your love for them takes on the status of myth.

When you're always together, it's harder.

In the same way, the dedicated hunter tracks the fugitive deer or rabbit through mist, bramble, frost, mud, snow, rotten ice, and swamp water before day's blinding glare or night's thick shroud. Yet bring the same hunter the same prey animal, tamed, or wounded, or docile, or otherwise ready for slaughter, and the hunter will decide—

Um. no.

Love shouldn't work like that. If love is a hunt, it should be about who you want at your back, or by your side with dagger, chakram, trident, or short bow, not what you string up in your larder.

# (Epigram 39)

Τὰ δῶρα τἀφροδίτη

It's hard work making people fall in love,
even harder to get them to stay that way. No wonder
my friend Simone has built, for the goddess of love,
an idiosyncratic altar:
on it, one tube of lip gloss, a charm bracelet, car keys,
a rental agreement for a basement apartment,
a doorbell, a star for a Christmas tree, a salt or
pepper shaker, the mouthpiece
for a pocket trumpet, a pill splitter, and under
them all, a folded velvet satchel,
in which the lucky couple
who stay together into a shared old age
can keep whatever other sentimental objects they decide to save.

#### (Aetia, book 4, frag. 101a)

Ήρη τῆ Σαμίη περὶ μὲν τρίχας ἄμπελος ἕρπει

Snakes stand for danger, but also for things intertwining, pairs of sacred opposites:

companionship and time alone,

or sun and fog, or jealousy and compersion.

Thus the snake-shaped grape-

vine, with its bits

and buds, its shining

granite scales, that a master carver set

in low relief around the combed-out locks

of Hera in the lovely stone

of the Samian idol, its style

Eastern, almost Persian,

is not, as some assume, a spiteful crown

reflecting her victory over Dionysus,

her husband's son who is not her son,

but rather a hopeful sign

of what's now on her mind:

this version of Hera finds

great joy in the knowledge

of lovers intertwined,

as long as they're equals, as long as they're enthusiastic.

To bloom and grow in more than one

direction, like the garland, is a privilege,

though also an exertion.

It's fantastic,

as long as it's not a pursuit or a power play:

as long as it's warm rain on a bright day,

not a thunderclap, or an atmospheric inversion.

#### (Aetia, book 4, frag. 101b)

"Ηρη τῆ Σαμίη περὶ μὲν τρίχας ἄμπελος ἕρπει

Snakes stand for danger, but also for things intertwining,

pairs of sacred opposites:

companionship and time alone,

or sun and fog, or jealousy and compersion.

Apollo once had trouble sharing them

with other gods, since snakes were his own emblem;

you might not have seen him as one of the quiet divinities,

much less

as a patron of introverts and introversion,

but all the arts (so he used to believe) are his,

and in his youth he spent too much time pining

for girls who would rather be trees.

Yet in the version

of his life that I prefer,

he's far

from bossy: he shows affinities

for lyricists and sculptors and portrait

painters who work best at dusk and dawn,

who draw with ash and earth, with charcoal, crayon

or pale

inkstones; whose art consists

of undertone and trill, hint and subversion,

without a single lead. It's an ensemble

cast, whose hits

are trios and duets,

sometimes in third, sometimes in second person.

#### (Epigram 47)

Ώς ἀγαθὰν Πολύφαμος ἀνεύρετο τὰν ἐπαοιδὰν

Fun fact: long ago, in the age of myth
(so Theocritus says) Polyphemus the Cyclops discovered
a remedy for the pains of unsatisfied lovers;
pursued by the vision of someone he'd never be with,
he lifted his lyre and made up a song about it.
The Muses know what they're doing. He was wise.

Such wisdom cures all aches.

In the same way, starvation
removes the dissatisfaction
of longing; it's quite a cure for that disease,

and surely we ought to know how to defend

ourselves. Erotic love is merciless, but you and I, Polyphemus, can live without it. We're not afraid of you, Love. We know many ways to pin your wings. I have one friend

who cuts herself. I know another who sings.

# Index of Greek First Lines

Αἴγυπτος προπάροιθεν ἐπ᾽ ἐννέα κάρφετο ποίας	33
αίδοῖ δ' ὡς φοί[νικι] τεὰς ἐρύθουσα παρειάς	49
Αἴνιε καὶ σὺ γὰρ ὧδε Μενέκρατες οὐκ ἐπὶ πουλὺ	9
Αἴσηπον ἔχεις, ἑλικώτατον ὕδωρ,/βουσόον ὅν τε μύωπα βοῶν	
καλέουσιν ἀμορβοί	122
αἰτοῦμεν εὐμάθειαν Έρμᾶνος δόσιν	59
ἀμάρτυρον οὐδὲν ἀείδω	79
Άργώ κοτ' ἐμπνέοντος ἤκαλον νότου	108
άρμοῖ που κἀκείνω ἐπέτρεχε λεπτὸς ἴουλος	14
ἄρνες τοι, φίλε κοῦρε, συνήλικες, ἄρνες ἑταῖροι	57
Άρτεμιν (οὐ γὰρ ἐλαφρὸν ἀειδόντεσσι λαθέσθαι)	64
Ἄρτεμι, τὶν τόδ᾽ ἄγαλμα Φιληρατὶς εἵσατο τῆδε∙	53
Άρτεμι, τὶν τόδ᾽ ἄγαλμα Φιληρατὶς εἵσατο τῆδε∙	60
Αστακίδην τὸν Κρῆτα τὸν αἰπόλον ἥρπασε Νύμφη	21
ἀστέρα, ναὶ κεραῶν ῥῆξιν ἄριστε βοῶν	159
ἀστὴρ δ' εὖτ'] ἄρ' ἔμελλε βοῶν ἄπο μέσσαβα	126
Αὐτομά[της εὐναὲς ἐπών[υμον, ἀλ]λ' ἀπὸ σ[εῖ]ο	47
Αὐτὸς Έρως ἐδίδαξεν Ἀκόντιον, ὁππότε καλῆ	4
γεργέριμον πίτυρίν τε καὶ ἣν ἀπεθήκατο λευκήν	62
Δαίμονα τίς δ' εὖ οἶδε τὸν αὔριον; ἁνίκα καὶ σέ	152
Δωδεκέτη τὸν παῖδα πατὴρ ἀπέθηκε Φίλιππος	155
έδείμαμεν ἄστεα μορτοί/ἀρχόμενοι μανίην ὀξυτάτην ἔχομεν/μεῖον	
ἐδάκρυσεν Τρωίλος ἢ Πρίαμος	146
εἰ δὲ Δίκη σε	145
Εἴθ ' ἦν, ἄναξ ὤπολλον, ἡνίκ ' οὐκ ἦα	78
Εἰ μὲν ἑκών, Ἀρχῖν', ἐπεκώμασα, μυρία μέμφου	12
Εἴπας "Ηλιε χαῖρε" Κλεόμβροτος Ώμβ ρακιώτης	147
Εἷς—οὐ γάρ;—ἡμέων, παῖ Χαριτάδεω, καὶ σύ	88
εἴτε μιν Ἀργείων χρῆν με καλεῖν ἀάτην/εἰ θεὸν οἶσθα	100
Εἶχον ἀπὸ σμικρῶν ὀλίγον βίον οὔτε τι δεινὸν	86
Έλκος ἔχων ὁ ξεῖνος ἐλάνθανεν∙ ὡς ἀνιηρὸν	16
Ένεστ' Ἀπόλλων τῷ χορῷ∙ τῆς λύρης ἀκούω∙	8
Ένθ', Άβδηρ', οὖ νῦν [ ]λεω φαρμακὸν ἀγινεῖ	34
έπεὶ θεὸς οὐδὲ γελάσσαι	157
Έρμᾶς ὁ Περφεραῖος, Αἰνίων θεός	118
Έρμᾶ, τί τοι τὸ νεῦρον, ὧ Γενειόλα	114
Έστι τι ναὶ τὸν Πᾶνα κεκρυμμένον, ἔστι τι ταύτῃ	17
Εὐδαίμων ὅτι τἄλλα μανεὶς ὡρχαῖος Ὀρέστας	82
Εύμαθίην ἠτεῖτο διδοὺς ἐμὲ Σῖμος ὁ Μίκκου	103
Έχθαίρω τὸ ποίημα τὸ κυκλικόν, οὐδὲ κελεύθφ	87
Ζηνὸς ἔοι τί κεν ἄλλο παρὰ σπονδῆσιν ἀείδειν	38
Ή Λῆμνος τὸ παλαιόν, εἴ τις ἄλλη	48
Ήλθε Θεαίτητος καθαρὴν ὁδόν. εἰ δ' ἐπὶ κισσὸν	148

Ήλθες ὅτ᾽ ἐκ Πίσης, Εὐθύκλεες, ἄνδρας ἐλέγξας	37
ἢ μᾶλλον χρύσειον ἐν ὀφρύσιν ἱερὸν ἰχθύν	7
ή μὲν ἀερτάζουσα μέγα τρύφος ὑψίζωνος	121
"Ημισύ μευ ψυχῆς ἔτι τὸ πνέον, ἥμισυ δ' οὐκ οἶδ'	73
ήνίκα μὲν γὰρ †φαίνεται τοῖς ἀνθρώποις ταῦτα†	158
η Ην κεῖνος ούνιαυτός, ῷ τό τε πτηνόν	160
Ήρη τῆ Σαμίη περὶ μὲν τρίχας ἄμπελος ἕρπει (101a)	24
Ήρη τῆ Σαμίη περὶ μὲν τρίχας ἄμπελος ἕρπει (101b)	25
"Ηρως Ήετίωνος ἐπίσταθμος Ἀμφιπολίτεω	115
Ήρως ὧ κατὰ πρύμναν, ἐπεὶ τόδε κύρβις ἀείδει	137
Ήσιόδου τό τ' ἄεισμα καὶ ὁ τρόπος∙ οὐ τὸν ἀοιδὸν	80
ἥτις τραγῳδὸς μοῦσα ληκυθίζουσα	84
Ήῷοι Μελάνιππον ἐθάπτομεν, ἠελίου δὲ (Epigram 22)	151
ήὼς οὐδὲ πιθοιγὶς ἐλάνθανεν οὐδ΄ ὅτε δούλοις	109
Θεοὶ πάντες κομποῖς νεμεσήμονες, ἐκ δέ τε πάντων	144
Θεσσαλικὲ Κλεόνικε, τάλαν, τάλαν, οὐ μὰ τὸν ὀξὺν	15
Ίερέη Δήμητρος ἐγώ ποτε καὶ πάλιν Καβείρων	61
ἴθι, πρηεῖα γυναικῶν	150
καὶ γὰρ ἐγὼ τὰ μὲν ὅσσα καρήατι τῆμος ἔδωκα (Aetia, book 2, frag.	
43)	123
Καὶ πάλιν, Εἰλήθυια, Λυκαινίδος ἐλθὲ καλεύση	51
Κόγχος ἐγώ, Ζεφυρῖτι, παλαίτερος· ἀλλὰ σὰ νῦν με	101
κουφοτέρως τότε φῶτα διαθλίβουσιν ἀνῖαι	138
κούχ ὧδ' Άρίων τὢπέσαντι πὰρ Διί 54	
κούχ ὧδ΄ Άρίων τὢπέσαντι πὰρ Διί	56
Κρηθίδα τὴν πολύμυθον, ἐπισταμένην καλὰ παίζειν	154
Κυνθιάδες θαρσεῖτε, τὰ γὰρ τοῦ Κρητὸς Ἐχέμμα	94
Κυνθιάδες θαρσεῖτε, τὰ γὰρ τοῦ Κρητὸς Ἐχέμμα	95
λάθρη δὲ παρ' Ἡφαίστοιο καμίνοις	119
λέξομαι ἐν μυχάτῳ· κλισίη δέ μοί ἐστιν ἑτοίμη "Ανοβάτω πορίσσονο Μονόνο στος" εἶτο Πονόνος	18
"Ληφθήσει, περίφευγε, Μενέκρατες" εἶπα Πανήμου	113 143
Μὴ χαίρειν εἴπης με, κακὸν κέαρ, ἀλλὰ πάρελθε·	96
Μὴ χαίρειν εἴπης με, κακὸν κέαρ, ἀλλὰ πάρελθε·	96 74
Μικρή τις, Διόνυσε, καλὰ πρήσσοντι ποιητῆ	
Μοῦσαι καλαὶ κἄπολλον, οἶς ἐγὼ σπένδω Μοῦσαί νιν ἑοῖς ἐπὶ τυννὸν ἔθεντο	140 75
νυμφίε Δημοφόων, ἄδικε ξένε/ἵλαθί μοι φαλαρῖτι, πυλαιμάχε/νόμον	73
δ' ἤειδεν Ἄρηος	31
Οἶδ' ὅτι μοι πλούτου κενεαὶ χέρες, ἀλλά, Μένιππε	105
Οίδ' ὅτ]ι μοι Τελχῖνες ἐπιτρύζουσιν ἀοιδῆ	3
οίον ὁ τὢπόλλωνος ἐσείσατο δάφνινος ὅρπηξ,	83
Οἰσύδρεω Θρήϊκος ἐφ᾽ αἵματι πολλὰ Θάσοιο	35
δικόσον ὀφθαλμοὶ γὰρ ἀπευθέες, ὅσσον ἀκουή	107
Ο Λύκτιος Μενίτας	98
οσσαι λωτροχόοι τᾶς Παλλάδος ἔξιτε πᾶσαι,	161
Όστις ἐμὸν παρὰ σῆμα φέρεις πόδα, Καλλιμάχου με	156
ότ' έμή μοῦσα	93
οὐ γὰρ ἐργάτιν τρέφω	77
Οὐδ΄ ἄν τοι Καμάρινα τόσον κακὸν ὁκκόσον ἀνδρός	36

ούπω Σκέλμιον έργον εύξοον, άλλ΄ έπί τεθμόν	97
Οὕτως ὑπνώσαις, Κωνώπιον, ὡς ἐμὲ ποιεῖς	10
πάσχομεν ἄστηνοι· τὰ μὲν οἴκοθε πάντα δέδασται	30
Ποιμένι μῆλα νέμοντι παρ' ἴχνιον ὀξέος ἵππου	76
Σκύλλα γυνὴ κατακᾶσα καὶ οὐ ψύθος οὔνομ' ἔχουσα/ἀμφὶ δέ οἱ	
κεφαλῆ νέον Αἰμονίηθεν	106
Στήλην μητρυιῆς, μικρὰν λίθον, ἔστεφε κοῦρος	29
σὺν δ' ἡμῖν ὁ πελαργὸς ἀμορβεύεσκεν ἀλοίτης	58
Τὰ δῶρα τἀφροδίτη	23
Τὰς Ἀφροδίτας—ἡ θεὸς γὰρ οὐ μία—	19
Τέσσαρες αἱ Χάριτες• ποτὶ γὰρ μία ταῖς τρισὶ τήναις	120
Τεῦ δὲ χάριν κικλήσ]κουσιν	46
Τῆδε Σάων ὁ Δίκωνος Ἀκάνθιος ἱερὸν ὕπνον	149
Τὴν ἁλίην Εὔδημος, ἐφ᾽ ἦς ἄλα λιτὸν ἐπέσθων	117
Τὴν Φρυγίην Αἴσχρην, ἀγαθὸν γάλα, πᾶσιν ἐν ἐσθλοῖς	55
"Τιμονόη." τίς δ' ἐσσί; μὰ δαίμονας, οὔ σ' ἄν ἐπέγνων	153
Τίμων, οὐ γὰρ ἔτ᾽ ἐσσί, τί τοι, σκότος ἢ φάοςἐχθρόν	102
τίον δέ ἑ πάντες ὁδῖται	142
Τίς, ξένος ὧ ναυηγέ; Λεόντιχος ἐνθάδε νεκρὸν	99
Τὸν τὸ καλὸν μελανεῦντα Θεόκριτον, εἰ μὲν ἔμ᾽ ἔχθει	13
τοὔνεκα καὶ νέκυες πορθμήιον οὔτι φέρονται	139
Τοῦ Σαμίου πόνος εἰμὶ δόμφ ποτὲ θεῖον ἀοιδὸν	81
Τὸ χρέος ὡς ἀπέχεις, Ἀσκληπιέ, τὸ πρὸ γυναικὸς	52
Τυρσηνῶν τείχισμα Πελασγικὸν εἶχέ με γαῖα	63
τῶ καλάθω κατιόντος ἐπιφθέγξασθε, γυναῖκες,	128
Τῷ με Κανωπίτα Καλλίστιον εἴκοσι μύξαις	85
Τω]ς μὲν ἔφη· τὰς δ' εἶθαρ ἐμὸς πάλιν εἴρετο θυμός/ἄγνωτον μηδὲν	
ἔχοιμι καλόν/τὴν θεῦν Ἄρτεμιν οἶ ᾽ ἔπαθεν	45
Φησὶν ὅ με στήσας Εὐαίνετος (οὐ γὰρ ἔγωγε	116
Φωκαέων μέχρις κε φανῆ μέγας εἰν ἁλὶ μύδρος	32
Όγρευτής, Ἐπίκυδες, ἐν οὔρεσι πάντα λαγωὸν	22
"Ωμοσε Καλλίγνωτος Ίωνίδι μήποτ' ἐκείνης	20
Ὁ ξεῖνε—συμβουλὴ γὰρ ἕν τι τῶν ἱρῶν	104
Ώς ἀγαθὰν Πολύφαμος ἀνεύρετο τὰν ἐπαοιδὰν	26
ώς τε Ζεὺς ἐράτιζε τριηκοσίους ἐνιαυτούς	11